1992

Kendrick Brothers Construction Company, Inc. v. Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

C. Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(d), Utah Code Annotated, plus Rules 3 and 4, Utah Court of Appeals.

D. Nature of Proceedings

This is an Appeal from an Order of the District Court denying Defendants' Motion To Set Aside The Judgment And Sanctions pursuant to Rules 55 and 60.

E. Statement of Issues on Appeal

I. Where Defendants' attorney was activated during certain periods of the Desert Storm Crisis which in part lead to certain papers not being produced and answered, should the Court upon being appraised of the matter set aside the Judgment and Sanctions.

II. Where one of the Defendants, Clare Morse had not appeared for several of the Supplemental Orders, should this be a part of the criteria for denying the judgment to be set aside where Defendant Clare Morse had depended upon his attorney to take care of the Supplemental Order.

F. Determinative Status

The statutes and Rules which Defendants Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. believe may be determinative are copied or set forth in their entirety in Appendix XIV. hereto.

STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The record now before the court establishes the following facts that are material to Plaintiff's Motion:

1. In response to service of the Summons and Complaint in the above matter upon the defendants Transamerica Equities, Inc. and Clare T. Morse, an answer was filed and served by mail on behalf of Transamerica Equities, Inc. and Clare T. Morse on or about January 11, 1992. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

2. On July 10, 1991, Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. learned for the first time that a Judgment had been obtained against Transamerica Equities, Inc. and Clare T. Morse in the instant matter when he was personally served by a constable with a Motion and Order in Supplemental Proceedings. (Affidavit of Grant Orton)

3. Transamerica Equities, Inc.'s registered agent was never served with the Supplemental Order. (Affidavit of Grant Orton)

4. Defendants' attorney, Grant Orton was out of town on a military call up during most of the time period of January - June, 1992. Grant Orton's Affidavit states that he had never received notice of plaintiff's Motion For Sanctions and Default Judgment nor Judgment which followed. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

5. According to Grant Orton's Affidavit, mail is delivered to a mail box in front of the building where his office is located. During the months of January thorough May 1991, Grant

Orton had numerous military assignments outside of the State of Utah. During that time normally the mail would have been retained by the Postal Service if his part-time secretary did not pick it up in a timely fashion. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

In the past when this happened, it has been retained by the post office for it to be picked up there. Upon checking with the post office Grant Orton found that this was not the case since there is no such mail retained by the Postal Service, nor had his secretary picked up the mail. In other words, he did not receive the mailings from Plaintiffs. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

6. Had Grant Orton become aware from any source that a Motion preliminary to the granting of judgment and sanctions had been served in any manner, including by mail, he would have taken the action necessary to timely prepare, file and serve an appropriate response thereto and he would not have permitted or suffered any judgment or sanctions to have been entered against the Defendant herein, without his answering said motions. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

7. Defendants have, hold and claim valid and meritorious defenses to each of the claims and issues that are raised in and that are the subject of the Complaint and has asserted them in his Answer. (Affidavit of Grant Orton).

8. Defendants Transamerica Equities, Inc. nor Clare T. Morse did not receive notice of the Motion for Sanctions and Judgment. (Affidavit of Grant Orton, Affidavit of Clare Morse).

9. Defendants did not receive Notice of Plaintiffs' Motions nor have they found those notices. (Affidavit of Grant Orton, Affidavit of Clare Morse).

10. That Grant Orton was attorney for Defendant Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. and all defenses for Transamerica Equities included Morse. (Affidavit of Grant Orton and Affidavit of Clare Morse).

11. That Clare Morse did not receive notice of any of Plaintiff's notices. (Affidavit of Clare Morse).

12. Defendants Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities did not have notice of any of the lack of response and therefore were dependent upon their attorney to represent them in this matter. (Affidavit of Clare Morse).

B. Course of Proceedings

Clare Morse, upon having received the July 10, 1991 Supplemental Order and giving it to his attorney Grant Orton to have the Court set the Judgment Aside, Grant Orton was again called up on active duty, and he and the Defendants requested present counsel Wesley Sine to take over the lawsuit for Defendants. Well within the 90 days from the time of Judgment, a Motion To Set Aside The Judgment was filed by the Defendants.

C. Disposition At The Hearing

After a hearing before the Honorable Judge Wilkinson, the Court ruled that since Defendant Clare T. Morse had failed to show up for two Supplemental Orders that he would not Set the Judgment Aside. (See Transcript page 10, lines 5-21, page 11,

lines 1-4)

Defendants then in a timely fashion appealed the Court's decision to the Utah Supreme Court who through its powers transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals.

D. Relevant Facts

1. According to the Affidavit of Grant Orton, he did not receive notice of Plaintiff's Motion For Sanctions and Judgment. (See Affidavit of Grant Orton, paragraph 3)

2. The Motion To Set Aside Plaintiff's Judgment was filed within 90 days of the filing of the Judgment.

3. Defendants had no notice of the Judgment until being served with the Supplemental Order. (See Affidavit of Clare Morse, paragraphs 7, 8, and 9)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rules 55(c) and 60(b), Utah R. Civ. P., provide for relief from the entry of defaults and default judgments for good cause shown and for (b)(1), "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect". The applicable standard is stated as follows in Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P. 2d 876, 879 (Utah 1975)

It is indeed commendable to handle cases with dispatch and to move calendars with expedition in order to keep them up-to-date. But it is even more important to keep in mind that the very reason for the existence of courts is to afford disputants an opportunity to be heard and to do justice between them. In conformity with that principle, the courts generally tend to favor granting relief from default judgments where there is any reasonable excuse unless it will result in substantial prejudice or injustice to the adverse party.

The facts established by the record now before the Court clearly satisfy the requirements of Rule 55(c) and 60(b) and compel the granting of the relief sought by Defendant's Motion. The failure of Defendants to file and serve a timely and appropriate response to the Motions for Sanctions and Judgment brought by the Plaintiff was caused by problems both with the mail (Orton nor Morse received the notices), and with Grant Orton serving military duty during the war in Kuwait during January - June 1991. The failure was not the result of poor practices, carelessness, or lack of concern on the part of Defendants, but rather a problem with the mail in part caused by Defendant Orton being called up in the military during this period. Moreover, defendants have, hold and claim, and are fully prepared to assert, good and meritorious defenses to each of the claims and issues that are raised by and that are the subject of the Plaintiff's Complaint.

ARGUMENT

Although a litigant is often charged with his attorney's misconduct, the rule may not apply with equal force to default judgments. See 21 ALR3d 1255 and cases there cited. The courts have demonstrated their willingness to relieve innocent clients from the consequences of their attorney's negligence in certain circumstances by recognizing exceptions to the general rule.

Such relief is often limited to extraordinary circumstances, such as where the attorney's neglect is extreme, or counsel has actually abandoned his responsibilities. The utter failure of

representation in effect abolishes the attorney-client relationship. 64 ALR 4th 323, § 2, footnotes 19-20 and cases there cited. Since the application of one of the exceptions to the general rule usually involves questions of fact regarding the nature of counsel's conduct, the trial judge has great discretion. See Harris v. Tilley (197) 25 U.2d 260, 480 P2d 132, 64 ALR4th 323 at § 20[b].

Even after trial, where it is determined that the lawyer utterly failed to provide adequate representation, and his client's substantive rights were adversely affected by palpable attorney malfeasance, a new trial has been allowed. Garrett v. Osborn, 164 Colo 31, 431 P2d 1012. If a client's rights have been wantonly or inadvertently jeopardized or lost by counsel, as in a complete failure to appear, the court may afford relief by granting a new trial in a civil case. Nordensson v. Nordensson (App) 146 Ariz 544, 707 P2d 948, later app 152 Ariz 438, 733 P2d 635. A litigant who employs counsel and communicates the merit of the case may reasonably rely on that counsel, and counsel's negligence will not be imputed to the litigant without ample notice either of counsel's negligence or of the need for personal action. Thelen v. Thelen, 53 NC App 684, 281 SE2d 737.

Utah allows relief for extreme misconduct by counsel. The following Utah cases have discussed incompetence of counsel as a ground for relief from a judgment:

(a) In 1979 the Utah Court commented that alleged incompetence of counsel, based on differing theories and

assumptions, is not grounds for relief. In Maltby v. Cox, (Utah 1979) 598 P.2d 336 the Utah Supreme Court refused to reverse denial of a motion for a new trial based on allegedly incompetent trial counsel, because present counsel disagreed with the theories and assumptions of the former attorney who had tried an automobile accident case. The court said the plaintiff had now shown that the jury's verdict would have been different had the alternative theories been followed, and denied relief.

In dicta in the Maltby case, the main opinion by Justice Wilkins (Justice Maughn concurring) made the general comment that while incompetence of counsel in a criminal case might be grounds for a new trial, so far as they had determined the Utah Supreme Court had never granted relief on such grounds in a civil case.

(b) Concurring opinion allows relief where process has gone awry in civil cases. Crockett's concurrence in Maltby v. Cox, (Utah 1979) 598 P. 2d 336 (joined by Hall and Stewart, J.) objected to that broad language and commented as follows:

At P. 341:

The purpose of all court proceedings is, of course, to do justice. If the processes have so clearly gone awry that an injustice has resulted, the court in charge of the trial, or this Court on review, should rectify such an unfortunate occurrence, whether the proceeding is criminal or civil. (emphasis added).

At P. 342:

[I]ncompetence or negligence of counsel which appears to have resulted in an injustice will justify the granting of a new trial (citing Garrett v. Osborn, 164 Colo. 31, 431 P.2d 1012 (1968)). It is therefore my view that in determining whether relief should be granted the matter of critical concern should not be as to the nature of the proceeding, but whether there is such a strong likelihood that an

injustice had resulted (id. at 1013) that good conscience requires it to be remedied." (emphasis added).

Judgment deprives Morse and Transamerica Equities of due process of law. Under the 5th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Art. I, § 7 of the Utah Constitution, he may not be deprived of property without "due process of law".

Strong public policy favors hearing the case on the merits. If URCP 60(b)(1) excusable neglect standard were applicable (it is not) still Morse has met that standard. Some rules announced in cases that have discussed circumstance which justify relief from a default judgment include the following:

(a) Liberal in granting of trial on merits. Courts should be liberal and somewhat indulgent in granting relief against judgments taken by default to end that controversies may be tried on merits. Mason v. Mason, 597 P.2d 1322 (Utah 1979); Baird v. Intermountain School Federal credit Union, 55 P.2d 877 (Utah 1976); McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, Inc., 411 P.2d 129, 17 U.2d 323 (1966); Pitts v. Pine Meadow Ranch, Inc., 589 P.2d 767 (Utah 1978)

(c) A 1982 medical malpractice case reaffirmed Justice Maign's concurring opinion in Maltby. In Jennings v. Stoker, 652 P.2d 912 (Utah 1982), the Supreme Court refused to reverse a verdict based on alleged trial attorney incompetence because: (A) a motion for a new trial had not been filed, (B) mere differences in theory of trial techniques are not sufficient to grant a new trial, and (C) the plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that there was a reasonable likelihood that the verdict would have been

different. The court cited with approval 58 Am. Jur. 2d New Trial § 160 & 66 CJS New Trial § 82b, and cited with approval Justice Maign's concurring opinion in Maltby v. Cox, 598 P.2d 336 [quoted in paragraph 24(b) above]. At page 913 the Utah Supreme Court commented in part as follows:

"The general rule is that in civil cases a new trial will not be granted based upon the incompetence or negligence of one's own trial counsel. There are cases which recognize that under exigent or exceptional circumstances, xxx...xxx the court may justify in granting a new trial. Maltby v. Cox, 598 P.2d 336, see the concurring opinion by Chief Justice Crockett which is concurred in by two other justices; 58 Am. Jur. 2d New Trial § 160 & 66 CJS New Trial § 82b." (emphasis added)

(d) Supreme Court reversed denial of motion to vacate default judgment entered as sanction for tardiness of attorney. In McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, 411 P.2d 129 (Utah 1966), defendant's attorney was 27 minutes late for trial. The court scheduled trial on short notice, and counsel objected because witnesses were unavailable. The morning of trial counsel sought a writ of prohibition from the Supreme Court. Unsuccessful, he called the Court and advised what he was doing and that he would be late. Because of his absence the Court entered default of his client and proceeded to hear evidence. The trial court refused to permit the attorney after he arrived late) to participate meaningfully in those proceedings, and entered a default judgment. New counsel moved to vacate that default, which was denied by the trial court. The Supreme Court reversed and in part stated as follows:

It is policy of law to favor trial on merits and to afford both sides full opportunity to present their evidence and

contentions as to disputed issues so they may be disposed of on substantial rather than upon technical grounds. (emphasis added).

Courts should exercise caution in regard to default judgments and should be somewhat indulgent if setting such judgments aside. (emphasis added).

"In order to achieve the objectives just stated it is sometimes necessary to look beyond what appear to be ill-advised, or even irritating or contemptuous conduct of counsel to the adjudication of the rights of the parties to the action. It should be kept in mind that their rights and any such misconduct of counsel are separate and distinct things which should be dealt with separately." The purpose of a default judgment is to conclude litigation when defendant fails to plead or otherwise defend an action. . . it was never intended to be used as a means of disciplining attorneys who may be derelict in the performance of their duties. If such a course were followed it may do a grave injustice to the client by punishing him rather than the attorney who has done the wrong." (emphasis added).

At p. 131 the Court stated, "We are acquainted with no foundation in law, either statutory or decisional, which would justify the entering of a default judgment and preventing the defendants from participating in a trial under circumstances shown here." (Court cited Hovey v. Elliott, et al. 167 US 490, 17 S Ct 8412, 43 LEd 215 and 14 ALR2d 580, et seq. re impropriety of striking pleading and entering default to punish contempt). (emphasis added). (See discussion in paragraph 23(a) above).

The sanction of a default judgment should not be imposed upon Morse and Transamerica Equities because of misfeasance of his attorney if such might be found. As noted by the Court in McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, supra, where defendants have raised issues by their pleading, they should not be punished by suffering a default judgment as a result of misconduct of their attorney.

Reasonable excuse. It is generally an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse and timely application is made to set it

aside. See Central Finance Co. v. Kynaston, 22 U. 2d 284, 452 P. 2d 316; Board of Education of Granite School Dist. v. Cox, 384 P.2d 806, 14 U.2d 385 (Utah 1963). The Court should be indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be resolved in conformity with law and justice. See Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite, 376 P.2d 951, 14 U. 2d 52; Social Service v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 951, 14 U. 2d 52; Social Service v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053.

Policy favors trial on merits. The law tends to accord to litigants the chance for a hearing on the merits where it can be done without serious injustice to the other party. Courts are generally indulgent toward setting aside default judgments if there is reasonable justification or excuse and timely application is made. See Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Development Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980);

Doubt should be resolved in favor of vacating judgment. If there it is unclear whether a default should be set aside, the law favors doing so. Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Development Corp., 611 P.2d 369.

Under the circumstances in this situation before the Court, the Judgment should be set aside.

Defendants' attorney Grant Orton, had been called up on military duty for certain periods of time during the Gulf War Crisis. He established certain criteria to oversee his legal responsibilities during that period of time. His secretary was to pick up the mail or the post office was to hold his mail. He