1992

Kendrick Brothers Construction Company, Inc. v. Clare T. Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court carefully considered the merits of defendants' Motion to Set Aside Sanctions and Judgment and properly concluded that justice and equity would not be served by granting the motion. The basis of this conclusion was that both defendants and their attorney inexcusably neglected this case and several court orders over a period of seven and one-half months. Consequently, it would not be fair to reinstate the very litigation that defendants willfully avoided for such a long period of time.

ARGUMENT

As a general rule, courts in Utah are inclined to grant an applicant's motion to set aside a default judgment so that a case may be adjudicated on its merits rather than on procedural deficiencies. Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876, 879 (Utah 1975). But it is also true that parties may lose their right to have their case adjudicated on the merits if their conduct so warrants. *Id.* at 879; Cox, 384 P.2d at 807. When a trial court undertakes this

decision, it is dealing with equitable rather legal principles. Warren v. Dixon Ranch Company, 123 Utah 416, 417, 260 P.2d 741, 742 (1953). Consequently, the court may "exercise wide judicial discretion in weighing the factors of fairness and public convenience, and this court on appeal will reverse the trial court only where an abuse of this discretion is clearly shown." *Id.* at 742. The moving party has the burden of showing that he or she used "due diligence" and was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he or she had no control. Airkem, 513 P.2d at 431. Warren, 260 P.2d at 742. Furthermore, a party cannot hide behind the negligence of his or her attorney in attempting to set aside a default judgment. Warren, 260 P.2d at 743. Gardiner, 656 P.2d at 430. The negligence of a party's attorney is attributable to that party through principles of agency. Russell, 681 P.2d at 1195.

When the legal principles described above are applied to the facts of this case, it is easy to understand why the trial court refused to set aside the default judgment. In the present case, both the defendants and their attorney demonstrated a complete disregard for the judicial process over a long period of time.

The defendants' attempt to create an image of their original attorney as a patriotic soldier with mail problems who was

called to serve his county in the Kuwait War. (See Appellant Brief, p.6.) Unfortunately, the facts reveal several inconsistencies with this image. First, with respect to the attorney's involvement in the Kuwait War, he states in his affidavit that "During the months of January through May 1991, I have had numerous military assignments outside the State of Utah. . ." (See Affidavit of Grant G. Orton, Addendum Exhibit "F," p.2.) This is the extent to which we are informed of the attorney's military service during his period of neglect. The attorney does not state that he was unable to practice law during this period of time nor that he informed anyone of how his "numerous" assignments would affect the cases he was handling. The unrefuted fact is that defendants' attorney called plaintiff's attorney on April 18, 1991 (during the middle of the period of neglect) and apologized for failing to respond to the discovery request and acknowledged that he had received the trial court's minute entry granting plaintiff's motion to compel production of discovery. Defendants' attorney admitted that he had discussed the discovery with his clients but doubted that anything had been done by the clients to respond. Defendants' attorney further requested an extension of time because he was only two days away from the deadline imposed by the Court and this request was denied by plaintiff's attorney, who reminded him that he had already been given three months to respond.

Finally, defendants' attorney requested a second copy of the discovery request because he said he could not locate the original copy and plaintiff's attorney immediately faxed him a second copy. (See Affidavit of Marlon L. Bates, Addendum Exhibit "H," p.2.) Defendants' attorney did not refute any portion of this affidavit. Indeed, the above-referenced telephone conversation was objectively verified for the trial court by the billing records of the plaintiff's attorney which referenced this telephone conversation in early May of 1991, several months before this telephone conversation became an issue. (See "Exhibit C" to Affidavit of Marlon L. Bates, Addendum Exhibit "H.")

Right in the middle of defendants' attorney's alleged patriotic tour of military duty, he was practicing law in this very matter and had knowledge that his failure to respond to discovery would violate a court order compelling discovery. Notwithstanding this knowledge, absolutely nothing was done to respond and defendants' attorney took no action to withdraw from the case.

With respect to the alleged mail problems of defendants' attorney, he states in his affidavit that the post office would retain his mail during the times when his part-time secretary did not pick it up. Then he claims that this did not happen while he was on military assignments because when he checked with the post office, there was no mail retained. (See Affidavit of Grant G.

Orton, Addendum Exhibit "F," p.2.) With nothing more than this for an explanation of his mail problems, defendants' attorney denies he received a copy of the Judgment nor the motions filed before the Judgment was entered. (See Affidavit of Grant G. Orton, Addendum Exhibit "F," pp. 1-2.) It is undisputed that at least nine separate packages of documents were sent by plaintiff's attorney and the Court to defendants' attorney at his mailing address as contained on his pleadings from January through May of 1991. (See Opposition to Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Addendum Exhibit "G," p. 10.) It is also undisputed that none of these mailings from plaintiff's attorney were ever returned by the post office as undeliverable. (See Opposition to Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Addendum Exhibit "G," pp. 2-5.) Furthermore, the magnitude of a mailing problem that completely prevented the delivery of all nine packages of legal documents over a five month period should have been serious enough to cause a prudent person to become aware of the problem and solve it. But even if this incredible story regarding the mail is accepted, defendants' attorney's telephone conversation with the plaintiff's attorney on April 18, 1991 establishes that defendants' attorney knew the status of the case at that time and could reasonably have expected that his total neglect of the court order to produce discovery would only make matters worse.

In sum, the trial court was well within its broad discretion to conclude that the neglect by defendants' counsel was inexcusable. And under Utah law, the negligence of one's counsel can be attributed to the client as previously explained on page 9.


Although the defendants' attorney's negligence can be attributed to the defendants, the trial court had a much easier decision to make because the defendants also neglected this matter in an inexcusable manner. The affidavits of the Constables establish that on June 13, 1991, July 10, 1991 and August 6, 1991, Clare Morse was personally served with Orders in Supplemental Proceedings and Orders to Show Cause. On these same three occasions, Clare Morse was also served on behalf of Transamerica Equities, Inc., of which he was and is the Vice-President. (See Addendum Exhibit "B.") Both Clare Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. willfully refused to comply with these orders to appear in court to testify regarding assets. In fact, it was not until one day before the third hearing was scheduled wherein a bench warrant for the arrest of Clare Morse and Transamerica Equities, Inc. was going to be issued that defendants' new counsel telephoned plaintiff's counsel and informed him that he had been retained to represent defendants to file a motion to set aside the default judgment. (See Opposition to Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Addendum Exhibit "G," p. 6.) Although Clare Morse claims that one

of the three services was made upon his daughter rather than him, the constables' affidavits clearly show this was not the case. On all three occasions, Clare Morse was personally served with his own documents and with those on behalf of Transamerica Equities, Inc. Although defendants now argue that Clare Morse was not the registered agent of Transamerica Equities, Inc., they neglect to tell the Court that Clare Morse was and is the Vice-President and founder of the corporation. Consequently, both defendants had actual knowledge of the judgment from at least June 13, 1991 until the motion to set aside the judgment was filed on August 23, 1991. During this period of time, defendants completely disregarded the court's orders to appear in court. Notwithstanding this contempt for the court's orders and the judicial process, defendants now argue that the trial court abused its broad discretion by failing to reinstate the litigation to the place it was seven and one-half months before the neglect began. The trial court was properly within its broad equitable powers when it found that the defendants' willful violation of several court orders was too serious to allow the court to reinstate the litigation under equitable principles. (See Reporter's Transcript of Hearing, Addendum Exhibit "J," p. 11.)

CONCLUSION

The actions of defendants and their original attorney with respect to this litigation are reprehensible. They demonstrated the worst type of disregard for the judicial system. If trial courts award this type of serious and continuous abuse by reinstating litigation, our judicial system will be without any effective recourse to persuade lawyers and their clients to proceed in good faith and those who do proceed in good faith will be punished for their honorable efforts. The trial court wisely reviewed all the evidence and properly concluded that justice and equity would not be served by setting aside the default judgment. This Court should conclude that the trial court did not clearly abuse its broad discretion by affirming the decision of the trial court.